## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CONSERVATORSHIP OF THE ESTATE OF ROBERT BAIRD MOOR, BY BETTY PEARSON MOOR AND ROBERT BAIRD MOOR, JR., CO-CONSERVATORS

APPELLANT

VS.

4 T

NO. 2009-CA-01077

4

I I

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, DEPARTMENT OF WILDLIFE, FISHERIES AND PARKS; LEFLORE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI; AND LEFLORE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY

DEC 2 8 2009 Office of the Clark Supreme Court Court of Appeals

#### BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

By: Donald W. Boykin 515 Court Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201 601-969-3015 MB Attorney for Appellant

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES				
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS				
ISSUE ONE				
ISSUE TWO				
ISSUE THREE11				
ISSUE FOUR				
ISSUE FIVE				
CONCLUSION16				
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE				

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

e 1

# <u>Mississippi Cases</u>

. .

Briel v. <u>City of Natchez</u> , 48 Miss. 423 (Miss. 1873)14
<u>Carter</u> v. <u>Berry</u> , 241 Miss. 321, 136 So. 2d 871 (1962)
<u>City of Laurel</u> v. <u>Powers</u> , 366 So. 2d 1079 (Miss 1979)14
<u>Columbus &amp; Greenville Ry Co.</u> v. <u>City of Greenwood</u> , 390 So. 2d 588 (Miss. 1980)17
<u>Monsanto Co.</u> v. <u>Hall</u> , 912 So. 2d 134 (Miss. 2005)
<u>Skrmetta</u> v. <u>Moore</u> , 86 So. 2d 46 (Miss. 1956)

# <u>Treatise</u>

C.J.S.,	Section 63(b)		13
---------	---------------	--	----

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 17, 1973, R. B. Moor, Charles H. Moor and Marion M. Moor entered with Leflore County, Mississippi the Option to Purchase and Agreement in Leflore County, Mississippi. (C.P. 6) On August 20, 1973, R. B. Moor, Charles H. Moor and Marion M. Moor executed the Warranty Deed to Otis W. Allen and R. Cunliffe McBee, as Trustees for the Leflore County, Mississippi School District, conveying the same property as described in the aforementioned Option. (C.P. 12). On October 5, 1973, the Trustees for the Leflore County, Mississippi School District executed the Special Warranty Deed to Leflore County, Mississippi conveying the same property. (C.P. 17). On December 12, 1973, Leflore County, Mississippi executed the Warranty Deed to the Mississippi Park Commission, an agency of the State of Mississippi, conveying the same property. (C.P. 20). The Department of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks is the successor to the Mississippi Park Commission.

Subsequently, Charles H. Moor died, and his successor in interest is Janie Logan Moor. (C.P. 171) The Conservatorship of the Estate of Robert Baird Moor is the successor in interest to that of Robert Baird Moor, with Betty Pearson Moor and Robert Baird Moor, Jr., being Co-Conservators. (C.P. 176)

On April 18, 2005, the Conservatorship of the Estate of Robert Baird Moor, by Betty Pearson Moor and Robert Baird Moor, Jr., Co-Conservators, and Janie Logan Moor filed their Complaint for Declaratory Judgment against the State of Mississippi, Department of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks; Leflore County, Mississippi; and

Leflore County School District. (C.P. 1) Their First Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment was filed on July 20, 2005. (C.P. 47) The land conveyed by the aforesaid deeds became known as the Florewood Plantation State Park in Greenwood, Leflore County, Mississippi.

. .

House Bill 1741, as passed the Mississippi State Legislature in the 2004 Regular Legislative Session, and as signed by the then Governor, states, in part:

> It is the intention of the Legislature that the Commission of the Mississippi Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks shall have the authority to close, transfer, lease or sell properties under the department's jurisdiction.

Pursuant to the above mentioned authority, the Legislature hereby identifies the following state parks as properties to be <u>promptly</u> <u>disposed of</u> by the Commission through closure, transfer, lease or sale:

Florewood Plantation State Park (underline supplied) Greenwood, Leflore County, Mississippi (C.P. 111)

The Warranty Deed from the Moors to Otis W. Allen and R. Cunliffe McBee, Trustees of the Leflore County School District, provides, in part:

> The above described property is conveyed to the Grantees herein, subject to the condition that the said Grantees or their successors in title utilize said property for the construction of a Historical Park, and subject to the condition that \$2,000,000.00 or a greater sum, will be expended in construction said Historical Park on the property herein conveyed, and subject to the condition that said construction shall begin on or before July 1, 1976. In the event construction is

not begun on the Historical Park within the time specified, the Grantors, their heirs or

assigns, shall have the exclusive option to purchase said property for the sum of \$750.00 per acre for a period of 120 days from the first breach of the foregoing conditions... (C.P. 12).

The Special Warranty Deed from Otis W. Allen and R. Cunliffe McBee, Trustees for the Leflore County School District, to Leflore County provides, in part:

> The above described property is conveyed to the Grantee subject to that specific condition that the said Grantee, or it successors in title, utilize the said property for the construction of a Historical Park, and further subject to the condition that two million dollars (\$2,000,000.00) or a greater sum, will be expended in construction the said Historical Park on the property herein conveyed, and further subject to the condition that said construction shall begin on or before July 1, 1976, and in the event construction is not begun on or before July 1, 1976, then Charles H. Moor, R. B. Moor and Marion M. Moor, prior owners of said land, have the exclusive option to purchase said property for the sum of \$750.00 an acre, for a period of 120 days from the first breach of any of the conditions herein set out... (C.P. 17).

The aforementioned Warranty Deed from Leflore County, Mississippi to the Mississippi Park Commission (now the Department of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks) provides, in part:

## WITNESSETH

That for and in consideration of the Grantee agreeing to construct a State Park known as The Living Historical Plantation on the lands hereinafter described, and to expend the sum of Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000.00) or more in the construction thereof, the undersigned Grantor, by these presents, does hereby sell, convey and warrant unto the Grantee the following described property situated and located in Leflore County, Mississippi, towit: .....The warranty of this conveyance is subject to the following conditions, to wit:

2 A

.

.

4. The right and option of R. B. Moor, Charles H. Moor and Marion M. Moor to repurchase said property for the sum of \$750.00 per acre in the event said property is not used for the construction of a Historical Park on said property on which \$2,000,000.00 or a greater sum will be expended in the construction of said historical park, and further subject to the condition that said construction shall begin on or before July 1, 1976. (C.P. 20)

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES

. .

.

# <u>ISSUE</u>

# DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DENIED AND THE MOORS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN\_GRANTED.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

### ISSUE

# DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DENIED AND THE MOORS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED.

The property originally owned by the Moors and subsequently conveyed by Leflore County, Mississippi to the State of Mississippi was to have been used by the State as a State historical Park, and at least \$2 million dollars was to have been expended by the State on the construction of the park. The State ceased using the property as such, and the Mississippi Legislature enacted law requiring the Department of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks to either The Department of "transfer, lease or sell" the property. Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks leased the property to Leflore County, but the lease did not require Leflore County to use the property as a historical park. Because the State did not expend \$2 million dollars on the construction of the property, and because it abandoned the use of the property as a historical park by leasing it to Leflore County, the property should revert to the Moors, or in the alternative, the Moors or their successors should have the right to re-purchase the property for \$750.00 per acre.

The Moors' First Amended Complaint alleges that the property conveyed to the then Mississippi Park Commission ceased to be used as the Living Historical Plantation or Historical Park, and that the State of Mississippi had not expended at least two million dollars (\$2,000,000.00) for the construction of the Living Historical Plantation or Historical Park. The Moors sought a declaratory judgment declaring that the conditions upon which the property was conveyed were not satisfied, or otherwise ceased to exist, and that the property should revert to them at no cost to them, or in the alternative, that they have the right to repurchase the property for the sum of \$750.00 per acre.

. .

Subsequent to the filing of the First Amended Complaint, the Department of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks leased on December 10, 2007 the subject property to Leflore County. (C.P. 181).

The Mississippi Department of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks responded to the First Amended Complaint with its Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment (C.P. 23). The Leflore County School District filed its Defenses and Answer to the Complaint for Declaratory Judgment on June 3, 2005, but it did not file an answer to the First Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment (C.P. 30). On September 9, 2005, the Leflore County School District filed its Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment (C.P. 73). On September 9, 2005, Leflore

County filed its Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment (C,P. 70). On January 15, 2008, the Moors filed their Motion for Summary Judgment (C.P. 167).

. .

On March 18, 2008, a hearing was held on the Moors' Motion for Summary Judgment and the aforementioned Motions of all of the Defendants/Appellees. On June 4, 2008, the trial court filed its Final Judgment Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgement and its Memorandum Opinion of the Court (C.P. 229, 232). On June 13, 2008, the Moors filed their Motion to Alter or Amend Memorandum Opinion of the Court and Final Judgment (C.P. 251). On June 1, 2009, the Order of the Court was entered denying the Moors' Motion to Alter or Amend Memorandum Opinion of the Court and Final Judgment (C.P. 285). It is from the Final Judgment and Order of the Court that Appellant appeals. Janie Logan Moor is not participating as an appellant.

### ARGUMENT OF ISSUE

#### ISSUE

## DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DENIED AND THE MOORS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED.

This Court is to review a trial judge's grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment under a de novo standard. All evidence is to be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-movant. The movant for a summary judgment has the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the non-movant is to be given the benefit of the doubt as to the existence of a material fact. Monsanto Co. v. Hall, 912 So. 2d 134 (Miss. 2005).

Moor contends that the property should revert to the grantors, because (1) the property had ceased to be used as a Living Historical Park and (2) that \$2,000,000.00 had not been expended in constructing the park. The Option to Purchase and Agreement provides, in part:

. .

WHEREAS, the Grantee herein is interested in and working toward having the Mississippi State Park Commission establish a State Park or Living Historical Plantation in Leflore County, Mississippi...

2. The above described property is conveyed to the Grantee for the sole and exclusive purpose of the Grantee or its successor in title utilizing said property as a Historical Park. \$2,000,000.00 or a greater sum will be expended in constructing said Historical Park on the property herein conveyed. Construction on said Historical Park will begin on or before July 1, 1976, and Grantees and their successors in title hereby covenant and agree to use due diligence in completing said Park. (C.P. 6-8).

The Warranty Deed from the Moors to the Leflore County School District, says, in part:

The above described property is conveyed to the grantees herein subject to the condition that the said grantees or their successors in title utilize said property for the construction of a Historical Park, and subject to the condition that \$2,000,000.00 or a greater sum, will be expended in constructing said Historical Park on the property herein conveyed, and subject to the condition that said construction shall begin on or before July 1, 1976. (C.P. 15).

The Special Warranty Deed from the School District to Leflore County contains essentially the same language. (C.P. 17)

The Warranty Deed from Leflore County to the Mississippi Park Commission contains the following language: That for and in consideration of the Grantee agreeing to construct a State Park known as the Living Historical Plantation on the land hereinafter described, and to expend the sum of Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000.00) or more, in the construction thereof, the undersigned Grantor by these presents, does hereby sell, convey and warrant unto the Grantee the following described property...

The warranty of this conveyance is subject to the following conditions, to-wit:

4. The right and option of R. B. Moor, Charles H. Moor and Marion Moor to re-purchase said property for the sum of \$750.00 per acre in the event said property is not used for the construction of a Historical Park on said property on which \$2,000,000.00 or a greater sum will be expended in the construction of said historical park, and further subject to the condition that said construction shall begin on or before July 1, 1976.

The Memorandum Opinion of the Court incorrectly states that at least \$2 million dollars was spent on the construction of the park. (C.P. 239). The trial judge's Opinion also says, "more than \$2 million was spent on the project," suggesting \$2 million need not have been spent on construction as required by all deeds (C.P. 248). Exhibit "A," paragraph 4 to the Defendant, Mississippi Department of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks's Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment states:

> 4. Attached to this affidavit as Exhibit "A" is a history of expenditures made by the State Park Commission and its successor, the Mississippi Department of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks, at Florewood State Park.

As can be plainly seen from this history, the State Park Commission did <u>not</u> expend \$2 million in the construction or development of Florewood State Park. Not all of the expenditures

were for construction. The construction expenditures were as follows:

. .

٠

Cotton Museum	\$	766,756.95		
Plantation Bldgs. (Pha	se I)	314,216.00		
Maintenance Bldg.		29,574.00		
Water System		111,978.40		
Water Distribution		102,132.06		
Plantation Bldgs. (Pha	se II)	231,153.14		
Day-Use/Picnic area		126,015.00		
Tram		46,682.24		
Tram Station		28,160.00		
Tram Road		10,331.92		
Phase II Buildings & Exhibits				
(Saw Mill, Gristmill E	Bolter,			
Shingle Mill, Planer,	Cotton			
Gin, Steam Engine, etc amount was spent on ex construction) (C.P. 28	hibits, not	53,925.00		

Total construction expenditures: \$1,692,895.72

Neither the Option nor any of the three deeds pose a condition that \$2 million be expended on construction prior to July 1, 1976, only that the sum of \$2 million be expended for construction. Clearly, that was not done.

The trial judge's opinion refers to the expenditure of \$2 million as only a "condition," when in fact, the expenditure of that sum should also be considered a covenant. The Warranty Deed

from Leflore County to the Mississippi Parks Commission states as follows:

### WITNESSETH

That for and in consideration of the Grantee <u>agreeing</u> to construct a State Park known as The Living Historical Plantation on the land hereinafter described, and to expend the sum of two million dollars (\$2,000,000.00) or more in the construction thereof... (underline supplied). (C.P. 20)

The use of the word "agreeing" says that the expenditure of \$2 million constitutes a covenant. Admittedly, subsequently in the deed, the expenditure of \$2,000,000.00 is also stated as a "specific condition."

Under "Option to Purchase," the Opinion states:

There is no language that states should Leflore or the State cease using the land as a park, it reverts back to the Moors. (It is assumed by the parties at the time their option to purchase and deed were drafted and executed, that this would occur by the Moors). (C.P. 238)

There were no affidavits, testimony, depositions, or other evidence stating that assumption was a fact. Moor is unclear as to what the trial judge meant by that assumption, but he should not have based his decision to grant Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment on assumption.

The trial judge appears to say that the sole consideration given by Leflore County for the purchase of the property was \$1,050.00 per acre. Part of the consideration was the State "agreeing to construct a State Park known as The Living Historical Plantation" (see Leflore County to Mississippi Park Commission Warranty Deed). ( C.P. 20) Thus, \$1,050.00 per acre was not the only consideration paid by the State.

The trial judge's Opinion says, "there was no intent on the grantors that this property ever revert back to the Moors." (C.P. 249). The issue of the Moors' intent is a genuine issue of material fact, and thus, there can be no assumption as to the Moors's intent. The Moors's intent is shown by the subject documents, but if it is not, their intent is at a minimum a genuine issue which remains to be decided, and that can only be done at a trial on the merits.

The trial judge's Opinion says the subject land was "dedicated" to Leflore County and the State of Mississippi as an historical park. The law pertaining to abandonment of "dedicated" property does not apply to this case. However, if it does, then a portion of the Court's statement of law with respect to dedication as found in C.J.S. favors Moor. Specifically, the Court quoted 26 C.J.S., Section 63(b), which, in part, reads:

> There must be some affirmative act manifesting the intent to abandon the dedicated property. However, nonuse is a factor to be taken into consideration in determining whether there has been abandonment, and may, in connection with other circumstances, show an abandonment.

The very fact that the State has leased property to Leflore County pursuant to House Bill 1741 for "outdoor recreation and other related purposes" is undisputed evidence of the State's intent to abandon the property's use as The Living Historical Park called for by the deeds.

The Court cites Briel v. City of Natchez, 48 Miss. 423 (Miss. 1873) in support of its position. The quote from Briel is not analogous to the case sub judice, because that quote says, in effect, that a governmental entity, once property is dedicated to it for public use, need not immediately construct or develop the property for the intended public use, because the need for such may arise only in later years. Skrmetta v. Moore, 86 So. 2d 46, 48 (Miss. 1956) cited by the Court in its Opinion, says in part, "An easement dedicated to the public may be abandoned by unequivocal acts showing a clear intent to abandon." While Skrmetta says that mere misuse or nonuse is insufficient to cause a reversion, nonetheless, abandonment will cause a reversion. Again, the State has abandoned the subject property. The Lease Agreement between the State and Leflore County is for a term of twenty-five years with the option to renew. As stated in The Moors' Motion for Summary Judgment, Section 21 of House Bill 1741 states, in part, "The Legislature hereby identifies the following State Parks as properties to be promptly disposed of by the Commission through closure, transfer, lease or sale: Florewood Plantation State Park, Greenwood, Leflore County, Mississippi.... The Moors, in effect, contracted for the property to be used as a Living Historical Park. Clearly, the property has ceased to be used for that purpose.

. .

In <u>City of Laurel</u> v. <u>Powers</u>, 366 So. 2d 1079, 1080 (Miss 1979), the City of Laurel was conveyed property by grantors, the deed stating that the property was conveyed to the City, "So long

as the property is used for public parking lot." That case arose as a result of the City of Laurel conveying part of the property to a redevelopment agency to be used as a street. The Court said:

,

The only title the city ever had was during the time the property should be used for public parking. The title ceased when the public parking use ended.

In holding that the property reverted to the grantors or their heirs, the Court said:

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