IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01077

CONSERVATORSHIP OF THE ESTATE OF ROBERT BAIRD MOOR, BY BETTY PEARSON MOOR AND ROBERT BAIRD MOOR, JR., CO-CONSERVATORS **APPELLANT**

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, DEPARTMENT OF WILDLIFE, FISHERIES AND PARKS; LEFLORE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI; AND LEFLORE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

APPELLEES

Appeal from the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi No. G2005-737 R/1

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PETER W. CLEVELAND (N SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL Post Office Box 220 Jackson, MS 39205-0220 PH: (601) 359-3822

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

MDWFP satisfied the three conditions of the warranty deeds, and there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding the satisfaction of these conditions. MDWFP used the subject property for the construction of a historical park, construction commenced prior to July 1, 1976, and more than \$2,000,000 was expended in the construction of the historical park. The Moors argue that MDWFP failed to expend the necessary \$2,000,000 on "construction" costs. To reach this argument, the Moors apply a tortured reading of the term "construction" and assert that "construction" costs should be limited to "brick and mortar" expenses. This argument has no basis. Neither the language of the conveying instruments nor the prevailing definition of the term "construction" support the Moors' limited interpretation of the term "construction."

Alternatively, even if the Court applied the Moors' definition of "construction," the deeds contain no date certain by which the \$2,000,000 must be expended. There is nothing that prohibits MDWFP from expending additional sums of money on Florewood Plantation, and, in fact, the lease with the County assigns to MDWFP the responsibility of making capital improvements to the property. Accordingly, even if the Defendants have not yet expended \$2,000,000 or construction of the historical parks, the legal consequences of such failure to expend the \$2,000,000 is not yet ripe for adjudication.

The Moors' second argument – that the property needed to be used as a historical park in perpetuity else it reverts to them – is similarly unsupported. None of the conveying instruments contain reverter language. The law does not favor the forfeiture of property, and deeds are strictly construed on the issue of whether a reversionary interest is created. The language of the deeds, at best, expresses a purpose for which the property is to be used; however, black letter Mississippi law provides that deviation from a stated purpose does not create reverter. Moreover, the language of the deeds must be read against the Grantors and the Moors.

I. THERE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT – MDWFP EXPENDED \$2,000,000 ON FLOREWOOD PLANTATION.

The Option to Purchase and the three deeds imposed three conditions on the sale of the subject property: (1) for the property to be "utilize[d] . . . for the construction of a Historical Park;" (2) for at least \$2,000,000 to be "expended in constructing said Historical Park;" and (3) for "said construction [to] begin on or before July 1, 1976." (R. 000015, D.R.E. 010; see also R. 000007-8, 18, 21, D.R.E. 002-3, 13, 16.) There is no dispute whatsoever regarding the commencement date of construction – construction began before July 1, 1976. Similarly, there is no dispute that the property was used for the construction of a historical park.³

The Moors argue that there is a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether \$2,000,000 was spent in the construction of the historical park. However, Plaintiffs presented the Chancery Court (and present this Court) with no evidence to counter Defendants' competent summary judgment evidence demonstrating the expenditure of at least \$2,000,000.

A. Standard of review is de novo regarding grant of summary judgment.

The Mississippi appellate courts apply a *de novo* standard of review to a trial court's grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment. *Cousin v. Enter. Leasing Co. – S. Cent., Inc.*, 948 So. 2d 1287, 1289 (¶6) (Miss. 2007). Accordingly, this Court should apply the same inquiry that the Chancery Court applied to the parties' cross motions for summary judgment regarding the question of whether an issue of material fact exists.

Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings and the evidence before the court demonstrate that there exists no genuine issue regarding any material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c); see Smith ex rel. Smith v. Gilmore Mem. Hosp., Inc., 952 So. 2d 177, 180 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2007). What constitutes a

There is a dispute, discussed *infra* §§ IV and V, regarding whether the deeds required the property to be used as a historical park in perpetuity.

"material" fact is determined by the elements of the claim. See Montgomery v. Woolbright, 904 So. 2d 1027, 1029 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2004) ("A fact is material if it 'tends to resolve any of the issues properly raised by the parties.' " (quoting Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Ass'n, 656 So. 2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1995))).

A genuine issue of material fact is absent if the record, taken as a whole, could lead no rational trier of fact to a judgment in favor of the nonmoving party. See Luvene v. Waldrup, 903 So. 2d 745, 748 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2005) ("The non-moving party's claim must be supported by more than a mere scintilla of colorable evidence; it must be evidence upon which a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." (quoting Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So. 2d 1205, 1214 (Miss. 1996))). The burden is on the movant to demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Holman v. Howard Wilson Chrysler Jeep, Inc., 972 So. 2d 564, 568 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2008).

Once the movant satisfies its burden, to survive a motion for summary judgment, the nonmovant must rebut such a showing by coming forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. *Cousin*, 948 So. 2d at 1289 (¶6). The nonmovant "may not rest upon mere allegations or denials of the pleadings." *Id.* While all evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party (*Vaughn v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr.*, 20 So. 3d 645, 649-50 (¶11) (Miss. 2009)), to satisfy his burden, the nonmovant must present more than a "mere scintilla of evidence" (*Pollard v. Sherwin-Williams Co.*, 955 So. 2d 764, 775-76 (¶¶ 33, 35) (Miss. 2007)). Additionally, if the nonmovant cannot make a sufficient showing to establish the existence of an essential element for which the nonmovant bears the burden at trial, summary judgment is appropriate. *Gilmore Mem. Hosp., Inc.*, 952 So. 2d at 180 (¶9).

B. No fact issue regarding amount spent.

On the various motions for summary judgment, the only competent evidence regarding the amount of money spent on the construction of Florewood Plantation was presented by the Defendants. In support of its motion to dismiss or in the alternative for summary judgment, MDWFP submitted an affidavit from W. Douglas Mann, Jr., general counsel to MDWFP. (R. 000026-29, D.R.E. 018-21.) Attached as Exhibit "A" to Mann's affidavit was a listing of the historical expenditures for Florewood Plantation. (R. 000028, D.R.E. 020.) The listing plainly states that at least \$2,000,000 was expended on Florewood Plantation. (Id.)

The Moors proffered no evidence to counter the facts contained in the Mann Affidavit. Confronted with this uncontested, conclusive piece of competent summary judgment evidence, the Chancery Court found that at least \$2,000,000 had been spent on Florewood Park. (R. 000248, P.R.E. 25 ("[M]ore than \$2 million was spent on the project.").) Even upon this Court's de novo review of the Chancery Court's holding, it cannot be said that there is a "fact issue" regarding whether \$2,000,000 was spent on the Florewood Plantation. Despite the Moors' contention to the contrary, the issue is actually a question of law: as a matter of deed interpretation, was \$2,000,000 spent on the "construction" of Florewood Plantation?

II. UNDER ORDINARY MEANING OF TERM "CONSTRUCTION" MORE THAN \$2,000,000 WAS SPENT ON "CONSTRUCTION" OF FLOREWOOD PLANTATION.

Issues of contract interpretation present questions of law. The Moors argue that \$2,000,000 was not spent on the "construction" of Florewood Plantation by asserting that "construction" does not include expenditures for site planning, exhibits, equipment, and furniture. However, the Moors did not present the Chancery Court (and do not present this Court) with any interpretation of the term "construction" that would exclude such expenditures.

A. Standard of review is de novo for contract interpretation.

Questions of contract interpretation are questions of law – not fact – and, thus, are reviewed *de novo*. See Anglin v. Gulf Gaur. Life Ins. Co., 956 So. 2d 853, 859 (¶ 15) (Miss. 2007) (insurance contract).⁴ Accordingly, to the extent the Moors argue the Chancery Court applied an improper interpretation of the term "construction" as contained in the warranty deeds, this Court should review such interpretation *de novo*.

B. Chancery Court correctly held \$2,000,000 was spent on "construction."

Under Mississippi law, courts are "bound to enforce contract language as written and give it its plain and ordinary meaning." *Anglin*, 956 So. 2d at 859 (¶ 16) (quoting *Miss. Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co. v. Britt*, 826 So. 2d 1261, 1266 (¶ 14) (Miss. 2002)); *Clarendon Nat'l Ins. Co. v. McAllister*, 837 So. 2d 779, 780 (¶ 5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) ("A contract is to be construed and enforced as written."). Thus, in the absence of a definition to the contrary contained in the document itself, courts apply the "commonly accepted meaning" to terms of a contract. *See Sanderson Farms, Inc. v. Gatlin*, 848 So. 2d 828, 836 (¶ 19) (Miss. 2003) (quoting *Parkerson v. Smith*, 817 So. 2d 529, 541 (¶ 42) (Miss. 2002)); *Clarendon Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 837 So.

[&]quot;Deeds are construed in a manner similar to contracts." Wicker v. Harvey, 937 So. 2d 983, 981 (¶ 22) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); see also Dalton v. Cellular S., Inc., 20 So. 3d 1227, 1232 (¶ 11) (Miss. 2009) (noting deeds and contracts construed under same analysis).

2d at 780 (¶ 5) ("We will not strain the bounds of the English language by imparting meanings to common words beyond ordinary use."). "[A]n instrument should be construed in a manner 'which makes sense to an intelligent layman familiar only with the basics of English language" Peoples Bank & Trust Co. v. Nettleton Fox Hunting & Fishing Ass'n, 672 So. 2d 1235, 1238 (Miss. 1996) (quoting Pursue Energy Corp. v. Perkins, 558 So. 2d 349, 352 (Miss. 1991)).

Additionally, a deed of conveyance is construed against the grantor. *Ouber v. Campbell*, 202 So. 2d 638, 641 (Miss. 1967) ("The ancient and well-recognized rule of law has application here. Where controversies arise over the construction of a deed, the deed is to be resolved most strongly against the grantor"); *McCuiston v. Blaylock*, 215 Miss. 504, 508, 61 So. 2d 332, 334 (Miss. 1952) ("If there is any doubt as to what is intended to be conveyed the grantee receives the benefit of the doubt."); *Richardson v. Moore*, 198 Miss. 741, 750, 22 So. 2d 494, 495 (Miss. 1945) ("[I]n case the deed is ambiguous, and subject to two possible constructions, one more favorable to the grantee, and the other more favorable to the grantor, that construction favorable to the grantee will be adopted.").

The Moors argued in their motion to alter or amend the final judgment of the Chancery Court – and now argue before this Court – that some of the expenditures outlaid by MDWFP do not constitute "construction" costs. Specifically, the Moors contend the following expenses are excluded from the term "construction" costs:

Year	Purpose	Amount
1974	Site Planning	\$15,000.00
1977	Furniture & Equipment	\$104,882.20
1979	Cotton Museum Exhibits	\$67,000.00
1981	Exhibits	\$37,588.00
	Furniture and Equipment	\$3,000.00

1983	Furniture and Equipment	\$2,968.00
1		

(Compare R. 000028, D.R.E. 020, with Br. for the Appellants ("Moor Br.") at 11.) Under the Moors' skewed interpretation of the term "construction," MDWFP spent only \$1,692,895.72 on the "construction" of Florewood Plantation. (Moor Br. at 11.)

The Moors' tortured interpretation of the word "construction" is both erroneous and unsupported. The plain meaning of the word "construction" encompasses the costs of planning, furniture, equipment, and exhibits. Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language Unabridged, defines "construction" as "the act of putting parts together to form a complete integrated object." Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language Unabridged 489 (4th ed. 1976). Similarly, Black's Law Dictionary defines "construction" as "the act of building or arranging parts or elements; the thing so built." Black's Law Dictionary 262 (8th ed. 2004). Notably, the Moors provided this Court with no other definition of the word "construction" – no definition that would exclude the contested expenses.

The deeds called for \$2,000,000 to be "expended in constructing said Historical Park." (R. 000015, D.R.E. 010; see also R. 000018, D.R.E. 013 (\$2,000,000 "will be expended in constructing the said Historical Park"); R. 000021, D.R.E. 016 (\$2,000,000 "will be expended in the construction of said historical park").) Accordingly, under the ordinary meaning of the word "construction," the deeds required the expenditure of \$2,000,000 in "the act of putting parts

Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language Unabridged was originally published in 1961. Subsequent editions were published in 1969, 1971, and 1973. However, changes and new definitions were compiled in the addenda. No addition or change to the definition of the word "construction" appears in the addenda as of the 1976 edition. See Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language Unabridged 61a (4th ed. 1976). Accordingly, Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language Unabridged (4th ed. 1976) is evidence of the ordinary definition of the word "construction" at the time when the subject deeds were executed.

together to form a complete integrated [Historical Park]" or in "arranging parts or elements" of the historical park. There can be no doubt that the grantees satisfied this condition.

The Moors' argument that a different and narrower definition of the word "construction" should apply is untenable. As successors to the Grantors, the language of the deeds should be construed against the Moors and in favor of the Defendants. MDWFP expended the necessary money to satisfy the terms of the deeds. The Chancery Court was correct in finding this condition of the deeds was met. As a matter of law, this Court should affirm the Chancery Court's interpretation of the word "construction."

III. ALTERNATIVELY, ISSUE OF WHETHER DEFENDANTS FAILED TO SATISFY CONSTRUCTION COST CONDITION IS NOT RIPE FOR ADJUDICATION

In the unlikely event that this Court accepts the Moors' interpretation of the word "construction" – an interpretation that is unsupported by the written instruments in this case and the prevailing meaning of the term –, the issue of whether Defendants violated the "construction" cost condition is not yet ripe for adjudication.⁶

A conveyance of an interest in an estate may contain a condition for the estate to vest. A "condition precedent" is "an event that, under the terms of the instrument, must occur before the interest vests." *Matter of Estate of Anderson*, 541 So. 2d 423, 429 (Miss. 1989). A "condition precedent" is subject to the rule against perpetuities ("the Rule"). *See id.* (comparing "condition precedent" to "condition subsequent" and noting "condition subsequent" is not subject to the Rule). The Rule provides: "No interest is good unless it vests within twenty-years after the death of all persons in being when the interest is created who can affect the vesting of the interest." *Id.* Generally, the "lives in being" for the purpose of the Rule must be indicated in the instrument conveying the estate. *Carter v. Berry*, 243 Miss. 321, 362, 140 So. 2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1962) ("The lives in being which are the measure of the period must be indicated by the creating instrument, but they need not be mentioned in it.").

The Mississippi courts have adopted a "wait and see" approach to the Rule. C&D Inv. Co. v. Gulf Transp. Co., 526 So. 2d 526, 530 (Miss. 1988). Under the "wait and see" approach, a contingent interest in an estate will not be declared void just because the interest might not vest within twenty-one years of a life in being. Id. at 529. Rather, the courts will allow the time period for vesting to expire before declaring the contingent interest void. Id. "Under this rule, if

Mississippi appellate courts can affirm a trail court's decision on grounds different from trial court. Kirksey v. Dye, 564 So. 2d 1333, 1336-37 (Miss. 1990). Both the County and the District raised the issue of ripeness on their motions for summary judgment. (R. 000080; R. 000121.)

the required contingency actually happens during the perpetuity period, the future interest is held valid." *Id.*

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